

# Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms

# Manfred Knebusch Winfried Scharlau

Notes taken by **Heisook Lee** 





#### **Authors** Manfred Knebusch

Fakultät für Mathematik Universität Regensburg 8400 Regensburg Federal Republic of Germany

Winfried Scharlau

Mathematisches Institut Universität Münster 4400 Münster Federal Republic of Germany

#### Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

Knebusch, Manfred.

Algebraic theory of quadratic forms.

(DMV seminar; 1)

Includes bibliographical references and index.

1. Forms, Quadratic. 2. Forms, Pfister.

3. Fields, Algebraic. I. Scharlau, Winfried, joint author. II. Title. III. Series.

512.9'42 QA243.K53

80-20549

ISBN 3-7643-1206-8

#### CIP-Kurztitelaufnahme der Deutschen Bibliothek

Knebusch, Manfred:

Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms: Generic Methods and Pfister Forms/Manfred Knebusch. Winfried Scharlau. Notes taken by Heisook Lee.

- Boston, Basel, Stuttgart: Birkhäuser, 1980.

(DMV-Seminar: 1) ISBN 3-7643-1206-8

NE: Scharlau, Winfried:

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission of the copyright owner.

© Birkhauser Boston, 1980

ISBN 3-7643-1206-8

Printed in USA

#### CONTENTS\*

§	1	Introduction to quadratic forms and Witt rings.	1			
§	2	Generic theory of quadratic forms.	4			
§	3	Elementary theory of Pfister forms.	8			
§	4	Generic theory of Pfister forms.	11			
§	5	Fields with prescribed level.	12			
§	6	Specialization of quadratic forms.	15			
§	7	A norm theorem.	20			
8	8	The generic splitting problem.	23			
§	9	Generic zero fields.	25			
§	10	Generic splitting towers.	30			
§	11	The leading form.	33			
§	12	The degree of a quadratic form.	36			
§	13	Subforms of Pfister forms.	41			
References 44						
		notes are based on the lectures given by W. Schar				
( }	<b>35</b> 1-6	and M. Knebusch(§§ 7-13)at the "Arbeitsgemeinsch	nart			

\*These notes are based on the lectures given by W. Scharlau (§§ 1-6) and M. Knebusch(§§ 7-13)at the "Arbeitsgemeinschaft" during the annual DMV meeting held at the University of Hamburg in September of 1979. The seminar was made possible through the support of the "Stiftung Volkswagenwerk."

#### 1. Introduction to quadratic forms and Witt rings.

We start by recalling some of the basic results in quadratic forms theory, which will motivate much of the material we would like to cover.

Throughout these lectures, a field always means a field of characteristic different from 2. Let k be a field. A (n-ary) quadratic form over k is by definition a homogeneous polynomial of degree 2

$$q(x) = q(x_1,...,x_n) = \sum_{i,j} a_{i,j} x_i x_j, a_{i,j} \in k.$$

The number n is often called the <u>dimension</u> of q, written  $n = \dim q$ . Since char  $k \neq 2$ , q corresponds uniquely to a symmetric square matrix  $(a_{i,j})$  and this matrix determines the bilinear space (V,b) by defining  $b(e_i, e_j) = a_{i,j}$  for a basic  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  of V. One can see easily that there is a one-to-one correspondence between the isomorphic classes of quadratic forms (p is <u>isomorphic</u> to q, p = q, if p(x) = q(Cx) for some invertible matrix C) and the isometry classes of bilinear spaces ((V,b)) is <u>isometric</u> to (V',b') if there is a linear isomorphism  $\tau: V \rightarrow V'$  such that  $b'(\tau(x), \tau(y)) = b(x,y)$  for all  $x,y \in V$ .

In the sequel we often use the matrix notation to describe a bilinear space and a quadratic form. We also say simply form instead of quadratic form.

Since any form can be orthogonally decomposed into a nonsingular form (det  $(a_{ij}) \neq 0$ ) and a form which is identically equal zero, we shall only consider nonsingular forms.

Remark 1.1. Any form can be diagonalized, i.e.  $q = a_1 x_1^2 + \dots + a_n x_n^2$ , and then we shall write  $q = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n \rangle$ . If all  $a_i = 1$  then we further write  $q = n \times \langle 1 \rangle$ .

Now we state the following theorem of Witt, which is considered as the most central result in quadratic forms

theory over fields:

Witt cancellation theorem 1.2. If  $q \perp q_1 = q \perp q_2$  then  $q_1 = q_2$ .

The proof can be found in Lam [7] among many other sources.

<u>Definition 1.3</u> Let (V,b) be a bilinear space. We say V is <u>isotropic</u> if there exists a nonzero vector  $u \in V$  such that b(u,u)=0. Otherwise V is called anisotropic.

The simplest example of an isotropic space is <1,-1> and the isometry class of such forms is called a <u>hyperbolic</u> <u>plane</u> and is denoted by H. An orthogonal sum r x H of r copies of H is called a hyperbolic space. The following fundamental theorem of Witt shows that an arbitrary quadratic form decomposes into an anisotropic and a hyperbolic space.

Witt decomposition theorem 1.4 Every form g has an orthogonal decomposition  $g = rxH + q_0$  with  $q_0$  anisotropic. Moreover  $q_0$  (up to isometry) and r are uniquely determined by  $q_0$ .

Such a decomposition is called <u>Witt decomposition</u>. We call  $q_0$  the <u>anisotropic</u> part or <u>kernel form</u> of q and r the index of q. We also write  $q_0$ =ker(q) and r=ind(q).

Definition 1.5 Let  $q_1$  and  $q_2$  be forms. We say  $q_1 \sim q_2$  (Witt equivalent) if  $\ker(q_1) \cong \ker(q_2)$ . Let W(k) denote the set of all equivalence classes of forms over k with respect to this equivalence relation  $\sim$ . Define an addition on W(k) by  $\{p\} + \{q\} = \{p : q\}$  and a product  $\{p\} \cdot \{q\} = \{p : q\}$ . Then these operations are well-defined (straight forward) and it is easily checked that W(k) is a commutative ring with identity given by  $\{<1>\}$ , 0 element = class of hyperbolic spaces, and additive inverse of  $\{<a_1,\ldots,a_n>\}$  =  $\{<-a_1,\ldots,-a_n>\}$ . W(k) is called the Witt ring of k.

We now mention several fundamental problems.

Problem 1. When is a form  $\phi$  isotropic? Or equivalently,

when is  $\varphi \cong H \perp Y$  with some form Y?

<u>Problem 2.</u> When is a form  $\varphi$  hyperbolic? This is related to the question when two forms  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  are isomorphic, since  $\varphi$   $\bot$  <- $\Psi$ > is hyperbolic if and only if  $\varphi$   $\cong$   $\Psi$ .

Problem 3. How can one determine W(k)?

Usually, Problem 2 is much easier than Problem 1. Problem 3 is apparently very difficult in general and we may consider the following problem concerning the behaviour of the forms under field extension.

<u>Problem 4.</u> Let L be an extension of k. Any form  $\varphi$  over k may be viewed as a form over L and will then be denoted by  $\varphi_L$  or  $\varphi$ . The map  $[\varphi] \to [\varphi_L]$  is a well defined ring homomorphism  $W(k) \to W(L)$ . What is the kernel of  $W(k) \to W(L)$ ?

We consider an arbitrary quadratic extension. Proposition 1.6 Let L=k(Vd). Then ker( $W(k) \rightarrow W(L)$ ) = <1,-d>W(k).\*

<u>Proof.</u> Clearly, <1,-d> W(k)  $\subset$  ker(W(k)  $\to$  W(L)), since <1,-d>  $\oplus$ L  $\cong$  H. To prove the other direction let  $\oplus$  = <b<sub>1</sub>,...,b<sub>n</sub>> be an anisotropic form over k which becomes isotropic over L. Then  $\Sigma$ b<sub>i</sub>  $(\mathbf{x_i} + \mathbf{y_i} \sqrt{\mathbf{d}})^2 = 0$ , where  $\mathbf{x_i}$ ,  $\mathbf{y_i}$   $\in$ k and not both  $\mathbf{x}=(\mathbf{x_1},...,\mathbf{x_n})$  and  $\mathbf{y}=(\mathbf{y_1},...,\mathbf{y_n})$  are zero. Considering the rational and irrational parts,

$$\Sigma b_i x_i^2 + \Sigma b_i dy_i^2 = 0$$
 and  $\Sigma b_i x_i y_i = 0$ 

By the latter equation, x and y are orthogonal in  $(k^n, \varphi)$ . The first equation says that  $\varphi(x) = -d \varphi(y)$ . Since  $\varphi$  is anisotropic, both  $\varphi(x)$  and  $\varphi(y)$  are not zero and hence

$$\varphi \approx \langle \alpha, -d\alpha \rangle + \Psi$$
, where  $\alpha = \varphi(y)$ .

<sup>\*)</sup> For convenience we write <1,-d> instead of [<1,-d>].

For an anisotropic form w which becomes hyperbolic over L, applying the above argument repeatedly, we get

$$\varphi = \langle \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \rangle \langle 1, -d \rangle.$$

#### 2. Generic theory of quadratic forms.

We consider a form over k, say  $\varphi = \langle \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \rangle$ . Then the polynomical  $\varphi(x) = \varphi(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  is usually regarded as the quadratic form  $\varphi$  itself. In the "generic" theory the indeterminates  $x_i$  are to be considered as elements of  $k(x) = k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  and in this way  $\varphi(x)$  is thought of as a "generic" value of  $\varphi$  over the rational function field k(x). In this section we shall consider the behaviour of quadratic forms under transcendental extensions of the base field.

Before stating the main result, we introduce the following subset of  $k^*$  arising from a form  $(V, \varphi)$ .

 $D(\varpi) = \{\alpha \in k^* \mid \varphi(x) = \alpha \text{ for some } x \in V\}$  is the set of values of k represented by  $\varphi$ .

The main theorem of the generic theory is the following subform theorem, which characterizes the subforms of a given form. We say Y is a subform of  $\varpi$  or  $\varpi$  represents Y and write  $Y < \varpi$  if there exists a form p such that  $\varpi \perp p$ .

Theorem 2.1. (Subform theorem of Pfister). Let  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi = \langle \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m \rangle$  be forms over k with  $\varphi$  anisotropic. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) Y is isomorphic to a subform of  $\varphi$ .
- (ii) For every field extension L of k  $D(\Psi_L) \subset D(\varphi_L)$ .
- (iii)  $Y(x) \in D(\phi \otimes k(x))$ , where  $x = (x_1, ..., x_m)$ ,

 $m = \dim \Psi$  (i.e.  $\beta_1 x_1^2 + ... + \beta_m x_m^2$  is represented over the rational function field k(x) by  $\varphi$ ).

#### Remarks 2.2.

- 1) The equivalent conditions (i),(ii),(iii) of this theorem imply in particular that dim  $\Psi \leq \dim \varphi$ .
- 2) It is important that  $\varphi$  should be anisotropic (see (ii)).
- 3) The criterion (ii) is nice but not practical, since it is not possible to calculate D(q) in general. The main part of the subform theorem is that the condition (ii) can be replaced by the much weaker condition (iii). For (iii), all we need is to check that the "generic" value Y(x) is represented by  $\varphi$  over the single field, namely the rational function field k(x).
- 4) The implications (i) ⇒ (ii) ⇒ (iii) are trivial.

To prove the implication (iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i), we present the following important theorem due to Pfister.

Theorem 2.3. Let  $\varphi = \langle \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \rangle$  be a form over k and let  $f(x) \in k[x]$  be a nonzero polynomial. If  $\varphi$  represents f(x) over k(x) then  $\varphi$  represents f(x) already over k[x].

Proof. We may assume o anisotropic, since

$$f = \left(\frac{f+1}{2}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{f-1}{2}\right)^2$$
. Let  $f(x) = \sum_{\tau=1}^n \alpha_i \frac{p_i(x)^2}{p_o(x)^2}$ 

with polynomials  $p_i(x)$  and  $deg(p_0) = d$  minimal. We shall show d = 0. Then the conclusion follows.

Suppose that d > 0. By Euclidean algorithm on k[x],

$$p_{i}(x) = q_{i}(x) p_{o}(x) + r_{i}(x),$$

i = 0, ..., n,  $q_0$  = 1,  $r_0$  = 1, deg  $(r_i)$  <deg  $(p_0)$ , 1 < i < n. Let  $\Psi$  denote the form <-f(x),  $\alpha_1$ , ...,  $\alpha_n$ > over k(x). Then  $\Psi$  = <-f>  $\perp$   $\phi$  is isotropic.

Let 
$$p = (p_0, ..., p_n) q = (q_0, ..., q_n)$$
 and

 $r = (r_0, ..., r_n)$ . Then  $\Psi(p) = -fp_0^2 + \alpha_1 p_1^2 + a_n p_n^2 = 0$ . But  $\Psi(q) \neq 0$ . Define

$$h = (h_0, ..., h_n) = Y(q)p - 2b_{\psi}(p,q)q,$$

with  $b_{\psi}$  the associated bilinear form to  $\Psi$ . Then  $\Psi(h) = \Psi(q)^2 \Psi(p) - 4\Psi(q) b_{\psi}(p,q)^2 + 4b_{\psi}(p,q)^2 \Psi(q)=0$ . Since  $\phi$  remains anisotropic over k(x),  $h_{\phi} \neq 0$ . From  $\Psi(h) = 0$  we obtain

$$f(x) = \sum \alpha_i \frac{h_i(x)^2}{h_0(x)^2}$$

We claim deg  $(h_0)$  < deg  $(p_0)$ . This will contradict the minimal choice of d and hence d should be zero.

To prove the claim, we calculate ho.

 $h_o = \Psi(q)p_o - 2b_{\Psi}(p,q)q_o = p_o^{-1}\Psi(p_oq - q_op)$ , since  $\Psi(p) = 0$ . Recalling the definition of  $\Psi$  we obtain

$$h_0 = \frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i (p_0 q_i - q_0 p_i)^2$$

Since  $q_0 = 1$ , finally

$$h_0 = \frac{1}{p_0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i r_i^2$$

Thus deg  $h_0 \le d - 2$ . Theorem 2.3 is proven.

Remark 2.4. This theorem is a generalization of Cassels' theorem that if  $0 \neq f(x) \in k$  [x] is a sum of squares in the rational function field then f(x) is already a sum of squares in k [x], cf. Cassels, Acta Arithm. 9 (1964).

Corollary 2.5. Let  $\omega = \langle a_4 \rangle$  1 \( \text{be anisotropic over k.} \)
Then  $d \in D(\forall )$  if and only if  $a_4 \times^2 + d \in D(\phi \otimes k(x))$ .

<u>Proof.</u> The direction " $\Rightarrow$ " is trivial. Assume now that  $a_1 x^2 + d$  is represented by  $\phi \otimes k(x)$ . According to Theorem 2.3.  $a_1 x^2 + d = a_1 f_1(x)^2 + ... + a_n f_n(x)^2$ , where

 $\forall$  =  $\langle a_2, ..., a_n \rangle$  and  $f_i(x) \in k[x]$ . Since  $\phi$  is anisotropic, all  $f_i(x)$  are linear. Write  $f_1(x)$  = a x + b. There is some  $c \in k$  such that  $ac + b = \pm c$ . Then

$$a_1 c^2 + d = a_1 c^2 + a_2 f_2(c)^2 + ... a_n f_n(c)^2$$

and hence  $d = a_2 f_2(c)^2 + ... + a_n f_n(c)^2 \in D(Y)$ .

Corollary 2.6.  $1 + x_1^2 + \dots + x_n^2$  can not be a sum of n squares in  $k(x_1, \dots, x_n)$ .

Corollary 2.7. (Pfister's Substitution Principle). Let Y be a form over k, and  $p(x) = p(x_1, ..., x_n) \in k [x_1, ..., x_n]$ . Let  $e = (e_1, ..., e_n) \in k^n$  with  $p(e) \neq 0$ . If  $p(x) \in D$  ( $\phi \otimes k(x)$ ) then  $p(e) \in D(\phi)$ .

<u>Proof.</u> According to Pfister's theorem  $\varphi$  represents p(x) over  $k(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})$  [ $x_n$ ]. Plugging in  $x_n = e_n$ , we see that  $\varphi$  represents  $p(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}, e_n)$  over  $k(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})$ . The conclusion now follows by induction on dim  $\varphi = n$ .

Later in §6 we shall establish a more general substitution principle.

We now enter the proof of the subform theorem. We work by induction on dim  $\varphi$ . By substituting  $x_1 = 1$ ,  $x_2 = \dots = x_m = 0$ , we see that  $\beta_1 \in D(\varphi)$ . Hence,  $\varphi = \langle \beta_1 \rangle_\perp \varphi'$  and this remains anisotropic over  $k(x') = k(x_2, \dots, x_m)$ . If we write  $Y = \langle \beta_1 \rangle_\perp Y'$  then from

$$\beta_1 x_1^2 + Y'(x) \in D (\phi \otimes k(x)) = D((<\beta_1> \perp \phi') \otimes k(x')(x_1))$$

we obtain  $\P'(x') \in D(\varphi' \otimes k(x'))$  by Corollary 2.5. By induction hypothesis,  $\varphi' \cong \P' \perp X$  and hence  $\varphi \cong \P \perp X$ .

#### 3. Elementary theory of Pfister forms.

An n-fold Pfister form over k means a quadratic form of the shape

and is denoted by  $<< a_1, \dots, a_n>>$ . This is of dimension  $2^n$ and is given by

$$<1,a_1,...,a_n, a_1a_2,...,a_1a_2a_3,...,a_1...a_n>$$

We note the following special cases:

1. 
$$<<1,a_2,...a_n>> = <1,1> <>$$

2. <<-1, 
$$a_2 \dots a_n$$
>> =  $2^{n-1} \times H$ .

- 3. The n-fold Pfister form  $\langle 1,1,\ldots,1 \rangle$  is  $2^n \times \langle 1 \rangle$ .
- 4. The 1-fold Pfister form <<-a>> is the norm form of the quadratic extension  $k(\sqrt{a})$ ,  $a \in k^{+}$ , if a is not a square. Similarly the 2-fold Pfister form <<-a. -b>> can be obtained as the norm form on the quaternion algebra  $(\frac{a,b}{b})$ , and the 3-fold Pfister form <<-a,-b,-c>> is the norm form of the Cayley-Algebra over k with the structure constants a, b, c.

Definition 3.1. For a form  $\phi$  over k, we define

$$G(\varphi) = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \mid \alpha \varphi = \varphi \}.$$

Such an element a is called a similarity factor of the form  $\varphi$ . Clearly  $G(\varphi)$  is a group and contains  $k^{*2}$ , so we may consider  $G(\varphi)$  as a subgroup of  $k^*/k^{*2}$ .

Definition 3.2. An anisotropic form o is called multiplicative or "round" if  $D(\phi) = G(\phi)$ . An isotropic form  $\phi$  is

called multiplicative if  $\varphi$  is hyperbolic.

Remark 3.3. If  $1 \in D(\varphi)$ ,  $G(\varphi) \subset D(\varphi)$ .

#### Examples

- 1) A one dimensional form  $\langle a \rangle$  is multiplicative if and only if  $\langle a \rangle \approx \langle 1 \rangle$ .
- 2) Every form <1, &> is multiplicative.

Theorem 3.4. (Pfister). If  $\varphi$  is multiplicative then  $\varphi \otimes \langle 1, \alpha \rangle$  is also multiplicative. In particular any Pfister form  $\langle \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \rangle$  is multiplicative.

<u>Proof.(Witt)</u> If  $\varphi \sim 0$ ,  $\varphi \otimes <1$ ,  $\alpha > \sim 0$ . This is the trivial case. Now let  $\varphi$  be anisotropic and  $\varphi \otimes <1$ ,  $\alpha >$  be isotropic. Then we need to show that  $\varphi \otimes <1$ ,  $\alpha >$  is hyperbolic. Since  $\varphi \otimes <1$ ,  $\alpha > = \varphi$  is isotropic,  $\gamma + \alpha \delta = 0$  for some  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta \in D(\varphi)$ . From  $G(\varphi) = D(\varphi)$ , it follows

$$\phi \perp \alpha \phi \cong \gamma \phi \perp \alpha \delta \phi = \gamma \phi \perp (-\gamma \phi).$$

This shows that  $\phi \otimes \langle 1, \alpha \rangle$  is hyperbolic.

We now consider the case that both  $\varpi$  and  $\varpi \ll <1, \alpha >$  are anisotropic. It suffices to show  $D(\varpi \ll <1, \alpha >) \subset G(\varpi \ll <1, \alpha >)$ . Let  $\delta \in D(\varpi \ll <1, \alpha >)$ . Then we distinguish the following 3 cases:

Case 1:  $\delta \in D(\phi)$ 

Case 2:  $\delta \in D(\alpha \varphi)$  i.e.  $\delta = \alpha \beta$ ,  $\beta \in D(\varphi)$ 

Case 3:  $\delta = \beta + \gamma \alpha, \beta, \gamma \in D(\phi)$ .

In the first two cases it can be shown easily that  $\delta$  ( $\varphi$   $\perp \alpha \varphi$ )  $\cong \varphi$   $\perp \alpha \varphi$ , since  $G(\varphi)$  =  $D(\varphi)$ . For the last case,

$$\delta(\varphi \perp \alpha \varphi) = (\beta + \gamma \alpha) (\varphi \perp \alpha \varphi) = \beta (1 + \frac{\alpha \gamma}{\beta}) (\varphi \perp \alpha \varphi)$$

$$\cong \beta(1 + \frac{\alpha \gamma}{\beta}) < 1, \frac{\alpha \gamma}{\beta} > \varphi$$

$$\stackrel{(*)}{\cong} \beta < 1, \frac{\alpha \gamma}{\beta} > \varphi$$

$$\delta(\phi \perp \alpha \phi) = \beta(\phi \perp \frac{\alpha \gamma}{\beta} \phi)$$
$$= \beta \phi \perp \alpha \gamma \phi$$
$$= \phi \perp \alpha \omega$$

(\*) Here we use the fact that 1-fold Pfister forms are multiplicative.

Remark 3.5. As a special case of the theorem we note that any isotropic Pfister form is hyperbolic.

Corollary 3.6. (Pfister). If  $\alpha, \beta \in k^*$  are both sums of  $2^n$  squares in k then  $\alpha\beta$  is also a sum of  $2^n$  squares in k.

<u>Proof.</u> We apply the theorem to the n-fold Pfister form <<1,1,...,1>>.

We now give an interesting application of the above corollary.

<u>Definition 3.7.</u> The <u>level</u> s(k) of a field k is the smallest natural number such that -1 is sum of s(k) squares in k. If k is formally real then we put  $s(k) = \infty$ .

Theorem 3.8. (Pfister). The level of a field is either  $\infty$  or power of 2.

<u>Proof.</u> Let s = s(k) and  $2^n \le s < 2^{n+1}$ . We consider the multiplicative form

$$\phi = 2^{n+1} x < 1 > = s x < 1 > 1 (2^{n+1} - s) x < 1 > .$$

Since -1  $\notin$  D (s x <1>), $\varphi$  is isotropic and hence hyperbolic. From  $2^{n+1}$  x <1>  $\cong$   $2^n$  x <1>  $_1$   $_2^n$  x <1>, we obtain  $2^n$  x <1>  $_2^n$  x <1

We leave here aside most of the elementary theory (i.e. theory not involving transcendental field extensions) of Pfister forms and refer the reader to Lam [7] Chap.X §1 for that.

#### 4. Generic theory of Pfister forms

As an application of the subform theorem we characterize the anisotropic Pfister forms by "multiplicative" properties.

Theorem 4.1. (Pfister). Let  $\varphi$  be a n-dimensional anisotropic form over K. Then the following are equivalent:

- (i)  $\phi$  is a Pfister form.
- (ii) For all field extensions L/K  $\phi_{\rm L}$  is multiplicative.
- (iii) For all field extensions L/K  $\overline{D(\phi_L)}$  is a group.
- (iv) For the vectors of indeterminates  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)$ and  $y = (y_1, ..., y_n)$ ,  $\varphi(x) \varphi(y)$  is represented by  $\varphi$ over  $k(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n)$ .
- (v)  $\varphi(x)$  is a similarity factor of  $\varphi$  over  $k(x_1, ..., x_n)$ i.e.  $\varphi(x) \in G(\varphi_{k(x)})$ .

<u>Proof.</u> (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii): This is clear since for any field L over K the form  $\phi_T$  is again Pfister.

- (ii) ⇒ (v): trivial
- $(v) \Rightarrow (iv)$ : Since  $\varphi(x) \varphi_{K(x)} \cong \varphi_{K(x)}$  and  $\varphi(y) \in D(\varphi \otimes K(y))$ ,  $\varphi(x) \varphi(y) \in D(\varphi \otimes K(x,y)$ .
- (iv) = (iii): Consider two elements  $\varphi(u)$  and  $\varphi(v)$  in  $D(\varphi_L)$ , u,  $v \in L^n$ . Since  $\varphi(x)\varphi(y)$  is represented by  $\varphi$  over  $L(x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_n)$ , the element  $\varphi(u)\varphi(v)$  is represented by  $\varphi_L$  according to the substitution principle.

(iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i):  $\phi$  clearly contains <1>, the 0-fold Pfister form. Now let r be the largest integer such that  $\phi$  contains an r-fold Pfister form Y. We shall show  $2^{r} = n$ . Then we will be finished.

Assume  $n > 2^T$  and write  $\varphi = \Psi \perp \rho$  with  $\rho \neq 0$ . Let us fix a value  $\alpha \in D(\rho)$  and consider the form  $\Psi \perp \alpha \Psi$ . We claim that  $\Psi \perp \alpha \Psi$  is a subform of  $\varphi$ . To prove the claim, consider

(\*) 
$$\Psi(Z) + \alpha \Psi(T) = \Psi(T) [\Psi(Z) \Psi(T)^{-1} + \alpha],$$

where Z =  $(Z_1, \ldots, Z_{2^T})$  and T =  $(T_1, \ldots, T_{2^T})$  are 2 independent sequences of  $2^T$  indeterminates. Since Y is a Pfister form, Y(Z) Y(T)<sup>-1</sup>  $\in$  D  $(Y_{K(Z,T)})$  and it follows that the expression in the brackets belongs to D $(\phi_{K(Z,T)})$ . Since D $(\phi_{K(Z,T)})$  is a group by hypothesis, both sides of (\*) are represented by  $\phi$  over K(Z,T). By the subform theorem Y  $_1$   $\alpha Y$  is a subform of  $\phi$ . But Y  $_1$   $\alpha Y$  =  $<<\alpha>>$  Y is an (r+1)-fold Pfister form, and this contradicts the choice of r.

#### 5. Fields with prescribed level.

We have seen that  $D(m \times <1>)$  is a group if  $m = 2^n$ . Here we shall give a more refined result.

Lemma 5.1. Let  $m = 2^n$  and let  $a_1, \ldots, a_m$  be elements of K. Put  $a_1^2 + \ldots + a_m^2 = a$ . Then there exists a  $m \times m - a$  matrix A with coefficients in K and first row  $(a_1, \ldots, a_m)$  such that  $AA^t = A^tA = aI_m$ ,  $I_m$  the  $m \times m$ -identity matrix.

<u>Proof.</u> We proceed by induction on n. The case n = 0 is

trivial. Assume n > 0 and write a = b+c with

$$b = a_1^2 + \cdots + a_{2n-1}^2 + c = a_{2n-1+1}^2 + \cdots + a_{2n}^2$$

By induction hypothesis there exists  $2^{n-1} \times 2^{n-1}$  matrices B and C over k with first rows  $(a_1, \ldots, a_{2^{n-1}}), (a_{2^{n-1}+1}, \ldots, a_{2^n})$  such that

$$B \cdot B^{t} = B^{t} \cdot B = b I_{2n-1}, \quad C \cdot C^{t} = C^{t}C = c I_{2n-1}.$$

If  $b \neq 0$  the matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} B & , & C \\ -b^{-1} & B^{t} \cdot C^{t} \cdot B & , & B^{t} \end{pmatrix}$$

solves our problem, as can be checked by easy computation. If b = 0, but  $c \neq 0$  then the matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} B & C \\ C^{t} & -a^{-1} C^{t} B^{t} C \end{pmatrix}$$

has the desired porperties. Finally if b = c = 0 then the matrix

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{C} \end{pmatrix}$$

has the desired properties.

Lemma 5.2. Let  $m = 2^n$  and  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m$  be elements of K. Then there exist elements  $\gamma_2, \ldots, \gamma_m$  in K such that

$$(\alpha_1^2 + \dots + \alpha_m^2) (\beta_1^2 + \dots + \beta_m^2 =$$

$$= (\alpha_1 \beta_1 + \dots + \alpha_m \beta_m)^2 + \gamma_2^2 + \dots + \gamma_m^2$$

Proof. Let  $\alpha: = \alpha_1^2 + \dots + \alpha_m^2$ ,  $\beta: = \beta_1^2 + \dots + \beta_m^2$ . By the above lemma there exist m x m-matrices A and B over k with  $AA^t = A^tA = \alpha I_m$  and  $BB^t = B^tB = \beta I_m$  and with first rows  $(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_m)$  and  $(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_m)$  respectively. Let  $(\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_m)$  be the first row of the matrix  $C = AB^t$ . Then  $CC^t = \alpha\beta I_m$  and hence  $\alpha\beta = \gamma_1^2 + \dots + \gamma_m^2$  with  $\gamma_1 = \alpha_1\beta_1 + \dots + \alpha_m\beta_m$ .

<u>Lemma</u> 5.3. Let K be formally real and  $L = K(\sqrt{-d})$  be a quadratic extension. If the level of L is  $s(<\infty)$  then d is a sum of 2s-1 squares in K.

<u>Proof.</u> Since s(L) = s, there exists a representation

$$-1 = \sum_{i=1}^{8} (\alpha_i + \beta_i \sqrt{-d})^2, \quad \alpha_1 \beta_i \in K$$

This yields  $-1 = \sum_{i=1}^{8} \alpha_i^2 - d\sum_{i=1}^{8} \beta_i^2$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{8} \alpha_i \beta_i = 0$ .

Hence 
$$d(\sum_{i=1}^{8} \beta_i^2)^2 = (\sum_{i=1}^{8} \alpha_i^2) (\sum_{i=1}^{8} \beta_i^2) + (\sum_{i=1}^{8} \beta_i^2).$$

By Lemma 5.2  $(\Sigma \alpha_i^2)$   $(\Sigma \beta_i^2)$  is a sum of s-1 squares and consequently d is a sum of 2s-1 squares.

Now we present the theorem, due to Pfister, which answers the title of this section.

Theorem 5.4. Let K be a formally real field and let  $d \in K$  be a sum of n squares but not sum of n-1 squares. Let  $2^k \le n < 2^{k+1}$  and L = K(V-d). Then the level of L is  $2^k$ .

<u>Proof.</u> Let  $\alpha = \sqrt{-d}$  then  $-\alpha^2 = d = \alpha_1^2 + \ldots + \alpha_n^2$ ,  $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence  $s(L) \le n$  which implies  $s(L) \le 2^k$ . To prove  $s(L) = 2^k$  assume that  $s(L) \le 2^{k-1}$ . Then by Lemma 5.3 d is a sum of  $2^{k-1}$  squares in K, which is a contradiction.

Example 5.5. Let K be formally real and let  $(X_1, ..., X_n)$ be a sequence of indeterminates over K.

Let  $2^k \le n < 2^{k+1}$ . Then the field  $\mathbb{K}(\mathbb{X}_1, \ldots, \mathbb{X}_n) \ (\sqrt{-\mathbb{X}_1^2 - \ldots - \mathbb{X}_n^2}) \text{ has level } 2^k.$ 

Indeed, we know from the subform theorem, that  $x_1^2 + \dots + x_n^2$  is not a sum of less than n squares in  $K(X_1, \ldots, X_n)$ , cf. § 2.

#### 6. Specialization of quadratic forms.

We first recall some definitions from valuation theory. A subring R of a field K is called a valuation ring of K if for all  $x \in K^*$   $x \in R$  or  $x^{-1} \in R$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be a totally ordered abelian group. Then a valuation on K is a mapping  $v:K \to I' \cup \{\infty\}$  such that  $v(x+y) \ge \min \{v(x), v(y)\}$ v(xy) = v(x)v(y), v(1) = 0 and  $v(0) = \infty$ .

If v is a valuation on K then  $R_v = \{x \in K | v(x) > 0\}$ is a valuation ring of K with maximal ideal  $w_{x} = \{x \in K | v(x) > 0\}.$ 

Conversely let R be a valuation ring of K. We define a relation < on K by  $\alpha < \beta$  if  $\beta \alpha^{-1} \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Let  $R^* = \{\alpha \in K^* | 1 < \alpha < 1\}$ . Then < gives a total ordering on  $\Gamma = K^*/R^*$  and the canonical projection  $v:K^* \cup O \rightarrow \Gamma u \infty$  is a valuation on K. Hence "valuation ring of K" and "valuation on K" are equivalent notions.

Now we come to the third equivalent notion. Let L be a field and  $L^{\infty} = L \cup \{\infty\}$ . The laws of composition of L extend to  $L^{\infty}$  by setting  $a+\infty = \infty$  for  $a \in L$  and  $\infty \cdot a = a \cdot \infty = \infty$ for a  $\in L^{\infty}$ , a  $\neq 0$ . The compositions  $\infty + \infty$  and  $\infty \cdot 0$  are not defined.

Let K and L be fields. A place  $\lambda: K \to L^{\infty}$  is a homomorphism from K to  $L^{\infty}$ , i.e.  $\lambda(x+y) = \lambda(x) + \lambda(y)$  and  $\lambda(xy) = \lambda(x) \lambda(y)$  whenever the right hand sides are defined. Any homomorphism  $\varphi: K \to L$  from K to another field L - automatically injective - is called a trivial place. Let  $R_{\lambda} = \{x \in K \mid \lambda(x) \neq \infty\}$ . Then  $R_{\lambda}$  is a valuation ring of K with maximal ideal  $m_{\lambda} = \{x \in K \mid \lambda(x) = 0\}$ . The residue class field  $k_{\lambda} = R_{\lambda}/m_{\lambda}$  can be considered as a subfield of L. We have  $\lambda(K) = k_{\lambda}$  if  $\lambda$  is nontrivial.

Conversely let R be a valuation ring in K with residue class field k. Then  $\lambda$ :  $K \to k^{\infty}$ , with  $\lambda \mid R$  = canonical projection and  $\lambda(x) = \infty$  for all  $x \notin R$ , is a place. Hence we have three essentially equivalent notions, namely valuations, valuation rings and places.

We recall some standard notions and well known facts about symmetric bilinear forms over a local ring R with 2 s unit in R.

A bilinear form  $\varphi = (E, \varphi)$  over R is a finitely generated free R-module E together with a symmetric bilinear form  $\varphi : ExE \to R$ . We often denote  $\varphi = (E, \varphi)$  by the symmetric matrix  $(a_{ij})$  which is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$  for a fixed basis of E over R. We say  $\varphi = (a_{ij})$  is a non-singular bilinear form, or bilinear space, if det  $(a_{ij})$  is a unit in R. For any ring homomorphism  $\lambda : R \to S$  we denote by  $\lambda_{\varphi}(\varphi)$  the bilinear form over S obtained from  $\varphi$  by base extension with  $\lambda$ .

Theorem 6.1. (Cancellation theorem) If  $\varphi$ ,  $\Psi$ ,  $\chi$  are non-singular bilinear forms over R with  $\varphi \perp \chi \cong \Psi \perp \chi$  then  $\varphi \cong \Psi$ .

A proof can be found in Knebusch [6] or Roy [10]. From now on let R be a valuation ring of a field K with maximal ideal m and 2 a unit in R.

Lemma 6.2. Let  $\varphi = (M, \varphi)$  be a bilinear space over R such that  $\varphi_K = (M \oplus K, \varphi_K)$  becomes isotropic. Then  $\varphi \cong \langle 1, -1 \rangle$  1 with some bilinear space Y over R.

Proof. By the hypothesis we may choose some  $x \in M$  such that  $x \neq 0$  and  $\phi(x,x) = 0$ . We regard M as an R-submodule of the K-vector space M  $\otimes$  K = KM. Choosing a basis of M we see easily that  $Kx \cap M = Rax$  with some a  $\in K^*$ . Replacing x by ax we may assume that  $Kx \cap M = Rx$ . Then x is part of a basis of M. In particular there exists an R-linear form M  $\to$  R which maps x to 1. Since  $\phi$  is non-singular we have a vector y in M with  $\phi(x,y) = 1$ . Replacing y by  $y - \frac{1}{2} \phi(y,y)x$  we may assume in addition that  $\phi(y,y) = 0$ . Since the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  has unit determinant, the module U := Rx + Ry is free with basis x,y, and M is the orthogonal sum  $U \perp U^{\perp}$  of U and the module  $U^{\perp} := \{z \in M \mid \phi(z,U) = 0\}$ . The bilinear space  $(U, \phi \mid U)$  has the orthogonal basis  $u := x + \frac{1}{2}y$ ,  $v := x - \frac{1}{2}y$  with  $\phi(u,u) = 1$ .  $\phi(v,v) = -1$ .

#### Corollary 6.3.

- i) If φ is a nonsingular bilinear form over R such that <sup>∞</sup><sub>K</sub> is hyperbolic then φ ≈ m x <1,-1> with some m ∈ N (over R).
- ii) If  $\phi$  and  $\Psi$  are nonsingular bilinear forms over R such that  $\phi_K \cong \Psi_K$ , then  $\phi = \Psi$ .

<u>Proof.</u> The first statement follows by repeated application of Lemma 6.2. Let now  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  be nonsingular forms over R with  $\varphi_K \cong \Psi_K$ . Then  $\varphi_\perp$  (- $\Psi$ ) becomes hyperbolic over K, hence  $\varphi_\perp$  (- $\Psi$ )  $\cong$  m x <1,-1>, with m the rank of the bilinear module  $\Psi$ . We also have  $\Psi_\perp$  (- $\Psi$ )  $\cong$  m x <1,-1>. From the cancellation theorem we obtain  $\varphi \cong \Psi$ .

It is convenient to know also the following fact.

<u>Proposition 6.4.</u> Every bilinear space (M,  $\varphi$ ) over R has an orthogonal basis, i.e. (M, $\varphi$ )  $\cong \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$  with some units  $a_i$  of R.

<u>Proof.</u> By induction on the rank n of M. The case n = 1 is trivial. Assume n > 1. It suffices to find a vector x in M

such that  $\varphi(x,x) = a$ , a unit. Then the restriction of  $\varphi$  to Rx will be nonsingular, hence

$$M = Rx _{\perp} (Rx)^{\perp} \approx \langle a \rangle _{\perp} (Rx)^{\perp}$$

and we can apply the induction hypothesis to  $(Rx)^{\perp}$ . Now start with any vector u of M which is part of a basis of M. If  $\varphi(u,u) \in \mathbb{R}^*$  we are through. Otherwise  $\varphi(u,u) \in \mathbb{R}^*$ . Since  $\varphi$  is nonsingular there exists some vector v in M with  $\varphi(u,v) = 1$ . If  $\varphi(v,v) \in \mathbb{R}^*$  we are through again. If  $\varphi(v,v) \in \mathbb{R}$  then x: = u+v is a vector with  $\varphi(x,x) \in \mathbb{R}^*$ , since 2 is a unit.

Definition 6.5. Let  $\lambda: K \to U \infty$  be a given place with valuation ring R. Let  $\varphi$  be a bilinear space over K. We say  $\varphi$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  if  $\varphi \cong (a_{ij})$  with  $\lambda(a_{ij}) \neq \infty$  and det  $(\lambda(a_{ij})) \neq 0$ . This means that there exists a bilinear space  $\Psi$  over R such that  $\Psi_K \cong \varphi$ . Let  $\lambda_*(\varphi)$  denote the bilinear form  $(\lambda(a_{ij}))$  over L. Because of the above Corollary 6.3.  $\lambda_*(\varphi)$  is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$  up to isometry. We call  $\lambda_*(\varphi)$  the reduction or specialization of  $\varphi$  with respect to  $\chi$ . Note also that if  $\varphi$  has good reduction then the matrix  $(a_{ij})$  above can be chosen as a diagonal matrix according to Proposition 6.4.

Lemma 6.6. Let  $\varphi$ ,  $\Psi$  and  $\rho$  be forms over K with  $\varphi \cong \Psi \perp \rho$ . If  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  have good reduction with respect to a given place  $\lambda$ :  $K \to L \cup \infty$ , then  $\rho$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda_*(\varphi) \cong \lambda_*(\Psi) \perp \lambda_*(\rho)$ .

<u>Proof.</u> By hypothesis  $\varphi \perp (-Y)$  has good reduction and

 $\varphi \perp (-Y) \cong (Y \perp (-Y)) \perp \rho \cong n \times \langle 1, -1 \rangle \perp \rho, n = \dim Y.$ 

By Lemma 6.2. there exists a space  $\rho_0$  over the valuation ring  $R_{\lambda}$  associated to  $\lambda$  such that  $\phi_{\perp}(-Y) \approx \rho_0 \oplus K_{\perp} n \times <1,-1>$ . Hence  $\rho_0 \oplus K \approx \rho$ , i.e.  $\rho$ 

has good reduction and

$$\lambda_{*}(\varphi) \cong \lambda_{*}(\Psi) \perp \lambda_{*}(\rho)$$
.

Corollary 6.7. (Substitution Principle) Let  $\varphi = (f_{i,j}(X))_{1 \le i, j \le n}$  and  $Y = (g_{kl}(X))_{1 \le k, l \le m}$  be symmetric matrices of polynomials in  $K[X] = K[X_1, \ldots, X_n]$ , Let  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_r)$  be an r-tuple with coordinates  $x_i$  in a field extension L of K. If the forms  $\varphi_X := (f_{i,j}(x))$  and  $Y_X := (g_{kl}(x))$  over L are not singular and if Y is a subform of  $\varphi$  over L.

<u>Proof.</u> Since Y is a subform of  $\infty$  over L(X), we may assume There exists<sup>(\*)</sup> a place (in fact many places)

$$\lambda: K(X) \rightarrow K \cup \infty$$
 with  $\lambda(X_i) = x_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ 

over K. Then  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  have good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$ . From hypothesis,  $\varphi \cong \Psi \perp \rho$  over k(X). By Lemma 6.5.  $\rho$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda_*(\varphi) \cong \lambda_*(\Psi) \perp \lambda_*(\rho)$  i.e.  $\varphi_* \cong \Psi_X \perp \rho_X$ .

We finally state a theorem, which we need in the next section in proving the norm theorem 7.2. For the proof we refer to theorem 3.1. in Knebusch [4]. Actually the part of the norm theorem for which this theorem is needed, is not essential for the later sections.

Theorem 6.8. Let  $\lambda: K \to L \cup \infty$  be a place. Then there exists a well-defined additive map

$$\lambda_* : W(K) \rightarrow W(L)$$

<sup>(\*)</sup> For the convenience of the reader we have included a proof of this standard fact of valuation theory in §9 (Lemma 9.3.).

such that for each a € K\*

$$\lambda_*$$
 (\) = <  \$\lambda\(a\)\$ > if  \$\lambda\(a\) \neq 0, \neq \infty\$ 

0 if  \$\lambda\(ac^2\) = 0\$  or  \$\infty\$  for all  \$c \in K^\*\$ .

Remark 6.9. If  $\varphi$  is a form over K with good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  then clearly  $\lambda_*[\varphi]$  is the class  $[\lambda_*(\varphi)]$  of the specialization  $\lambda_*(\varphi)$  defined above.

#### 7. A norm theorem.

We fix some further notations. From now on k always denotes the ground field. For any form  $\varphi = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n \rangle$  over k the (signed) <u>determinant</u> of  $\varphi$  is defined as the square class of

 $\frac{n(n-1)}{2}$   $a_1 \cdots a_n$  and denoted by  $d(\varphi)$ . Notice that  $d(\varphi)$  depends only on the Witt class  $[\varphi]$ . We often regard  $d(\varphi)$  as a one dimensional quadratic form. Let  $X_1, \ldots, X_n$  be indeterminates and  $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_n)$ . Let  $\varphi$  be a quadratic form over k of dimension  $n(\geq 2)$  which is not isomorphic to H. Then  $\varphi(X) \in k$  [X] is irreducible in k[X] and we may regard the function field  $k(\varphi)$  of the affine quadratic  $\varphi(X) = 0$ , i.e. the quotient field of  $k[X]/\varphi(X)$ . Let  $x_i$  denote the image of  $X_i$  in  $k(\varphi)$ . Then we have  $k(\varphi) = k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ . The function field  $k(\varphi)_0$  of the projective quadratic  $\varphi(X) = 0$  is

$$k(\varphi)_0 = k \left(\frac{x_2}{x_1} \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot \frac{x_n}{x_1}\right).$$

In particular  $k(\varphi)_0 \subset k(\varphi)$  and  $k(\varphi) = k(\varphi)_0 (x_1)$  with  $x_1$  transcendental over  $k(\varphi)_0$ .

Remark 7.1. Let  $\varphi$  be isotropic but not the hyperbolic plane H. Then  $k(\varphi)_0$  is a purely transcendental extension of k.

Proof. By a linear coordinate change, we may assume

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{if} \quad .$$

Thus  $\phi(X_1, ..., X_n) = X_1 X_2 + \Psi(X_3, ..., X_n)$ .

Since  $x_2 x_1^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}(x_3 x_1^{-1}, \dots, x_n x_1^{-1})$  we have  $k(\phi)_0 = k(x_3 x_1^{-1}, \dots, x_n x_1^{-1})$ , which is a purely transcendental extension of k.

For  $\varphi \cong H$  we write conventionally  $k(\varphi)_0 = k$  and  $k(\varphi) = k(x)$ .

Theorem 7.2. (Norm theorem) Let  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  be forms over k with dim  $\Psi = n > 2$ . We further assume that  $\Psi$  represents 1. Then  $\varphi \otimes k(\Psi) \sim 0$  if and only if  $\Psi(X) \in G(\varphi \otimes k(X))$ , where  $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_n)$ .

<u>Proof.</u> First assume  $Y(X) \in G(\phi \otimes k(X))$  i.e.  $Y(X)(\phi \otimes k(X)) \cong \phi \otimes k(X)$ . We consider the canonical place

$$\lambda : k(X) \rightarrow k(Y) \cup \infty$$

over k associated to the prime polynomial Y(X). (Remember that k[X] is a unique factorization domain)

Let  $\lambda_*: \mathbb{W}(k(\mathbb{X})) \to \mathbb{W}(k(\mathbb{Y}))$  be the additive map induced by  $\lambda$  as described at the end of §6. Let  $\phi = \langle a_1, \dots, a_m \rangle$ ,  $a_1 \in k^*$ . Then  $\lambda_*(\phi \otimes k(\mathbb{X})) = \phi \otimes k(\mathbb{Y}) = \langle a_1, \dots, a_m \rangle$ . By hypothesis  $\langle a_1 \ \mathbb{Y}(\mathbb{X}), \dots, a_m \ \mathbb{Y}(\mathbb{X}) \rangle \cong \langle a_1, \dots, a_m \rangle$  over  $k(\mathbb{X})$  and we learn from theorem 6.8. that  $\lambda_* [\phi \otimes k(\mathbb{X})] = 0$  i.e.

 $\phi \otimes k(Y) \sim 0.$ 

To prove the converse we may assume Y = <1>, Y'. Then  $Y(X) = X_1^2 + Y'(X_2, ..., X_n)$  and  $k(Y) = k(X')[\sqrt{-Y'(X')'}]$ ,  $X' = (X_2, ..., X_n)$ . Since  $\phi \otimes k(Y) \sim 0$ ,  $\phi \otimes k(X') \cong$   $\cong <1$ ,  $Y'(x')> \otimes \gamma$ , for some form  $\gamma$  over k(x') by Proposition 1.6. Then  $\phi \otimes k(X) \cong (<1, Y'(X')> \otimes \gamma) \otimes k(X)$  and hence  $G(<1, Y'(X')> \otimes k(X)) \subset G(\phi \otimes k(X))$ . Now  $Y(X) = X_1^2 + Y'(X') \in D(<1, Y'(X')> \otimes k(X)) =$   $= G(<1, Y'(X)> \otimes k(X))$ , and the conclusion follows.

We have the following interesting corollaries: Corollary 7.3. Let  $\varphi$  be anisotropic over k with  $1 \in D(\varphi)$ . Then  $\varphi$  is a Pfister form if and only if  $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi) \sim 0$ .

<u>Proof.</u> ">": This is clear since  $\phi \otimes k(\phi)$  is isotropic and isotropic Pfister forms are hyperbolic. " $\Leftarrow$ ": According to the Norm Theorem  $\phi(X) \in G(\phi \otimes k(X))$ . Hence  $\phi$  is a Pfister form by Theorem 4.1.

Corollary 7.4. Let  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  be forms over k such that  $\varphi$  is anisotropic, dim  $\Psi \geqslant 1$ , a  $\in D(\varphi)$  and b  $\in D(\Psi)$ . If  $\varphi \otimes k(\Psi) \sim 0$  then ab $\Psi < \varphi$ . In particular dim  $\Psi \leqslant \dim \varphi$ .

<u>Proof.</u> Since  $b \in D(\Psi)$ ,  $1 \in D(b\Psi)$  and then  $b\Psi(X) \in G(\phi \otimes k(X))$  by the Norm Theorem. Since  $a \in D(\phi) \subset D(\phi \otimes k(X))$ ,  $ab\Psi(X) \in D(\phi \otimes k(X))$ . Since  $\phi$  is anisotropic, we obtain  $ab\Psi < \phi$  using the subform theorem.

Corollary 7.5. Let  $\tau$  be a Pfister form and let  $\varphi$  be anisotropic over k. Then  $\varphi \otimes k(\tau) \sim 0$  if and only if  $\varphi \simeq \tau \otimes \eta$  for some  $\eta$ . In particular  $\text{Ker}(W(k) \to W(k(\tau))) = \tau W(k)$ .

<u>Proof.</u> " = ": Since T is a Pfister form, this direction is clear.

"" : We prove inductively on dim  $\varphi$ . If dim  $\varphi = 0$  then there is nothing to prove.

We choose  $a_1 \in D(\phi)$ . Then  $\phi = a_1\tau \perp \phi_1$  by Corollary 7.4. Since  $\phi_1 \otimes k(\tau) \sim 0$ , by induction hypothesis  $\phi_1 = \tau \otimes \eta_1$ . Hence the conclusion  $\phi = \tau \otimes (\langle a_1 \rangle \perp \eta_1)$  follows.

# 8. The generic splitting problem

Let  $\varphi$  be a form over k. In this section we are interested in the following question. What are the indices  $\operatorname{ind}(\varphi_L)$  and kernel forms  $\ker(\varphi_L)$  if L runs through all extensions of k in some universal domain?

Let K and L be field extensions of k. Let  $\Psi$  be the kernel of  $\varphi \otimes K$  and  $\eta$  be the kernel form of  $\varphi \otimes L$ . Let  $\lambda: K \to L \cup \infty$  be any place over k (i.e.  $\lambda(x) = x$  for all x in k). Then  $\varphi \otimes K$  has good reduction with respect to every k-place  $\lambda$  from K to L and  $\lambda_*(\varphi \otimes K) = \varphi \otimes L$ . Let  $r = \operatorname{ind}(\varphi \otimes K)$ . Since  $r \times H$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$ ,  $\Psi$  has also good reduction and  $\varphi \otimes L \cong r \times H$  ,  $\lambda_*(\Psi)$  by Lemma 6.6. In particular  $\operatorname{ind}(\varphi \otimes L) \geqslant r$  and  $\eta \sim \lambda_*(\Psi)$ .

<u>Definition 8.1.</u> We call two field extensions K and L <u>equivalent</u> over k if there exist places

 $\lambda: K \to L \cup \infty$  and  $\mu: L \to K \cup \infty$ 

over k. We then write  $K \sim L$  or more precisely  $K \sim L$ .

From the discussion above the following is clear: Theorem 8.2. Let  $K \sim L$  and  $\phi$  be a form over k.

Then

- (i)  $ind(\phi \otimes K) = ind(\phi \otimes L)$
- (ii)  $\ker(\phi \otimes K) = \Psi$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda_{\#}(\Psi) = \ker(\phi \otimes L)$  for every k-place  $\lambda: K \to L \cup \infty$ . Thus over equivalent fields  $\Phi$  has the same splitting behavior.

We may ask:

<u>Problem.</u> Let  $\varphi$  be a form over k. For any given integer r > 1 we look for a field extension K over k with the following properties:

- (i)  $ind(\mathfrak{o} \otimes K) > r$
- (ii) For any field L over k with ind( $\phi \otimes L$ )  $\geq r$  there exists a k-place  $\lambda$ : K  $\rightarrow L \cup \infty$ .

Such a field K is called a partial generic splitting field of  $\phi$ , more precisely a generic field for splitting off r hyperbolic planes. In particular if r = 1, K is called a generic zero field of  $\phi$ , and if  $r = \frac{\dim \phi}{2}$ , a (total) generic splitting field of  $\phi$ .

We say that  $\varphi$  splits if  $\dim(\ker(\varphi)) \leq 1$ , i.e.

 $\varphi \sim 0$  if dim  $\varphi$  even  $d(\varphi)$  if dim  $\varphi$  odd.

### 9. Generic zero fields

We want to show that  $k(\phi)$  is a generic zero field of  $\phi$ . If  $\phi$  is isotropic,  $k(\phi)$  is a purely transcendental extension of k and hence  $k(\phi) \sim k$ . Therefore in this case  $k(\phi)$  certainly is a generic zero field. To deal with the anisotropic case we need three lemmas:

Lemma 9.1. Let K be a quadratic field extension of E, say  $K = E(Va) = E(\alpha)$ ,  $\alpha^2 = a$ . Let  $\mu$ :  $E \to L \cup \infty$  be a given place with  $\mu(a) = \beta^2$ ,  $\beta \in L$ ,  $\beta \neq 0$ . Then there exists a unique extension  $\lambda$ :  $K \to L \cup \infty$  of  $\mu$  with  $\lambda(\alpha) = \beta$ .

<u>Proof.</u> (Here we give an elementary proof without referring to general principles of valuation theory.) By the general extension theorem of places there exists a place

$$\lambda: K \to \overline{L} \cup \infty$$
,  $\overline{L} = algebraic closure of L,$ 

which extends  $\mu$ . Since  $\lambda(\alpha)^2 = \beta^2$ , we have  $\lambda(\alpha) = \pm \beta$ . Eventually composing  $\lambda$  with the involution of K/E, we obtain an extension  $\lambda$  of  $\mu$  with  $\lambda(\alpha) = \beta$  and values in L. Now let  $\lambda$ :  $K \to L \cup \infty$  be any extension of  $\mu$  with  $\lambda(\alpha) = \beta$ . Given  $x, y \in E$ , we want to show that the value  $\lambda(x + y\alpha)$  lies in  $L \cup \infty$  and is uniquely determined by  $\mu$ .

Let v: E  $\rightarrow$   $\Gamma$  be the associated valuation to  $\mu$ . Then we have the following 3 cases:

1. 
$$v(y) \ge v(x)$$
,  $x \ne 0$ ,  $y \ne 0$ : Now 
$$\lambda(x+y\alpha) = \lambda(x(1+\frac{y}{x}\alpha))$$
$$\lambda(1+\frac{y}{y}\alpha) = 1+\mu(\frac{y}{x}) \beta.$$

a) If 
$$1 + \mu(\frac{y}{x}) \beta \neq 0$$
,  $\lambda(x+y\alpha) = \mu(x) (1 + \mu(\frac{y}{x})\beta) \in L \cup \infty$ .

b) If 
$$1 + \mu(\frac{y}{x})$$
  $\beta = 0$ ,  $2 = 1 - \mu(\frac{y}{x})$   $\beta = \lambda(1 - \frac{y}{x}\alpha)$ 

$$2 \lambda(x+y\alpha) = \lambda(x(1-\frac{y^2}{x^2}\alpha)) = \mu(x-\frac{y^2}{x}\alpha) \in L \cup \infty$$

2.  $v(y) < v(x), x \neq 0, y \neq 0$ :

$$\lambda(x+y\alpha) = \lambda(y(\frac{x}{y}+\alpha)) = \mu(y)\beta \in L \cup \infty, \text{ since } \mu(\frac{x}{y}) = 0.$$

3. x = 0 or y = 0: trivial.

<u>Lemma 9.2.</u> Let  $y: K \to L \cup \infty$  be a place. Let  $X_1, \ldots, X_r$  be indeterminates over K and  $U_1, \ldots, U_r$  be indeterminates over L. Then there exists a unique extension

$$\mu: K(X_1, \ldots, X_r) \rightarrow L(U_1, \ldots, U_r) \cup \infty$$

of  $\gamma$  with  $\mu(X_i) = U_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le r$ .

<u>Proof.</u> Without loss of generality we may assume r = 1 and write  $X_1 = X$ ,  $U_1 = U$ . Let o be the valuation ring associated to  $\gamma$  with the maximal ideal m. Define

$$D = \left\{ \frac{f(X)}{g(X)} \mid f(X) \in o[X], g(X) \in o[X] \setminus m[X] \right\}$$

Then  $\mathfrak D$  is a valuation ring of K(X) with the maximal ideal

$$\mathfrak{R} = \left\{ \frac{f(X)}{g(X)} \mid f(X) \in \mathfrak{m}[X], g(X) \in \mathfrak{o}[X] \setminus \mathfrak{m}[X] \right\}$$

The ring homomorphism  $\circ \to L$  obtained by restriction of  $\gamma$  has a unique extension

$$\alpha: o[X] \longrightarrow L[U]$$
 with  $\alpha(X) = U$ .

If  $g(X) \in o[X] \setminus m[X]$ , then  $\alpha(g(x)) \neq 0$ . Hence  $\alpha$  has a well defined extension

$$\mu \colon \mathfrak{D} \longrightarrow L(U), \quad \mu(\mathfrak{D}) = 0.$$

This is the place we looked for.

Lemma 9.3. Let  $y_1, \ldots, y_r$  be the given elements in K and let  $X_1, \ldots, X_r$  be indeterminates. Then there exists a K-place  $\lambda: K(X_1, \ldots, X_r) \to K \cup \infty$  such that  $\lambda(X_i) = y_i, 1 \le i \le r$ .

Proof. For any transcendental field extension E(U)/E with one indeterminate U and any  $a \in E^*$  there exists a unique place  $\gamma: E(U) \to E \cup \infty$  over E with  $\gamma(U) = a$ , namely the canonical place corresponding to the prime polynomial U-a of E[U]. Thus for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$  we have a unique place  $\lambda_i: K(X_1, \ldots, X_i) \to K(X_1, \ldots, X_{i-1}) \cup \infty$  over  $K(X_1, \ldots, X_{i-1})$  which maps  $X_i$  to  $y_i$ . (Read K for  $K(X_1, \ldots, X_{i-1})$  if i = 1). Composing all the places  $\lambda_i$  we obtain a K-place  $\lambda$ :  $K(X_1, \ldots, X_r) \to K \cup \infty$  with  $\lambda(X_i) = y_i$ .

Theorem 9.4. Let  $\varphi$  be a form over k with dim  $\geqslant$  2. Further assume that  $\varphi$  has good reduction with respect to a given place  $\gamma$ :  $k \Rightarrow L \cup \infty$ . Then  $\gamma_*(\varphi)$  is isotropic if and only if  $\gamma$  can be extended to a place  $\lambda$ :  $k(\varphi) \Rightarrow L \cup \infty$ .

Remark 9.5. If  $\gamma$  is a trivial place, i.e.  $\gamma$  is injective, then  $\gamma_*(\varphi) = \varphi \otimes L$ . Thus Theorem 9.4. states in particular that  $k(\varphi)$  is a generic zero field of  $\varphi$ .

<u>Proof.</u> Without loss of generality we may assume  $\varphi \neq H$ . \*: We have a decomposition  $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi) \cong H \perp X$ . Then  $\gamma_*(\varphi) = \lambda_*(\varphi \otimes k(\varphi)) = H \perp \lambda_*(\chi)$  i.e.  $\gamma_*(\varphi)$  is isotropic.

Example 1: Let  $\varphi = \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ ,  $a_i \in k^*$ . Since  $\varphi$  has good reduction with respect to  $\gamma$ , we have after linear change of coordinates  $\varphi = \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle$ ,  $\gamma(a_i) = b_i \neq 0$ ,  $\varphi$ , of Proposition 6.4. Then  $\gamma_*(\varphi) = \langle b_1, \ldots, b_n \rangle$ . Since  $\gamma_*$  is isotropic, there exist  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n$  such that not all of them are zero with  $b_1\gamma_1^2 + \cdots + b_n\gamma_n^2 = 0$ . Let  $\gamma_n \neq 0$ . We have  $k(\varphi) = k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  with the

relation  $a_1x_1^2 + \cdots + a_n x_n^2 = 0$ . Thus  $k(\varphi) = E(x_n)$ , where  $E = k(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})$  and  $x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}$  are algebratically independent over k.

Let  $U_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}$  be indeterminates. By Lemma 9.2. there exists an extension

$$\tilde{\forall}$$
 : E  $\rightarrow$  L(U<sub>1</sub>, ..., U<sub>n-1</sub>)  $\cup \infty$ 

of  $\gamma$  with  $\tilde{\gamma}(x_i) = U_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le n-1$ . By Lemma 9.3. there exists an L-place

$$L(U_1, \ldots, U_{n-1}) \cup \infty \rightarrow L \cup \infty, U_i \rightarrow y_i, 1 \le i \le n-1.$$

By composing the two places we get a place  $\mu$ :  $E \to L \cup \infty$  with  $\mu(x_i) = y_i$  1  $\leq i \leq n-1$ , hence

$$\mu(\mathbf{x_n}^2) = -b_n^{-1}(b_1y_1^2 + \cdots + b_{n-1}y_{n-1}^2) = y_n^2.$$

Then  $\nu$  can be extended to a place

$$\lambda : k(\phi) \rightarrow L \cup \infty \quad \text{with } \lambda(x_n) = y_n$$

by Lemma 9.1.

At first glance Theorem 9.4. might appear as some "general abstract nonsense". To illustrate that this is actually not true we mention some results of A. Heuser, obtained in his thesis (Univ. Regensburg 1976). For any form  $\varphi$  of higher degree over k we also have the notion of seneric zero field. Now let  $\mathfrak D$  be a central division algebra over k of dimension  $d^2$ . Let  $\varphi(T_1, \ldots, T_{d^2})$  be the reduced norm of  $\mathfrak D$  over k with respect to a basis. This is a form of degree d.

- (i) If d is not a prime power then φ has no generic zero field.
- (ii)  $d = p^{\alpha}$  is a prime power with  $\alpha > 1$  then  $\varphi$  has a generic zero field but  $k(\varphi)$  is not a generic zero

field

(iii) If d = p then k(φ) is a generic zero field.

We conclude this section with some remarks on generic zero fields.

- (i)  $k(\phi) \sim k(\phi)_0$ . Therefore the theorem holds for  $k(\phi)_0$  instead of  $k(\phi)$ . Note that the transcendental degree  $tr(k(\phi)_0/k) = n 2$  if dim  $\phi = n$ .
- (ii)  $\varphi$  is isotropic if and only if  $k(\varphi)$  is purely transcendental extension over k.

## Proof.

- : We have seen this before.
- Since k(φ) ~ k and φ ⊗ k(φ) is isotropic, φ is isotropic over k.
- (iii) Let φ be an anisotropic form of dimension n. The transcendental degree of a generic zero field of φ can be less than n - 2. For example let φ be an anisotropic n-fold Pfister form and let φ ≅ Ψ 1 η with dim Ψ ≥ 2<sup>n-1</sup> + 1. Then for any L over k the following are equivalent:
  - (a) ♥ ♥ L is isotropic

  - (c) ¥ ⊗ L ~ (-η) ⊗ L.

Since dim  $\eta$  < dim  $\Psi$ , in this case  $\Psi$  & L is isotropic. Thus  $\varphi$  and  $\Psi$  become isotropic over the same fields and in particular  $k(\Psi)_0$  is a generic zero field of  $\varphi$ . If dim  $\Psi = 2^{n-1} + 1$ ,  $tr(k(\Psi)_0/k) = 2^{n-1} - 1$ .

#### 10. Generic splitting towers

Let  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  be a form over k. We construct a tower of fields

$$k = K_0 \subset K_1 \subset \cdots \subset K_h$$

in the following way. Decompose o into a hyperbolic and a kernel form

$$\varphi = i_0 \times H \perp \varphi_0$$
.

If  $\phi_0$  splits (i.e. dim  $\phi_0 \le 1$ ), we stop with  $K_0 = k$ . Otherwise we choose a generic zero field  $K_1$  of  $\phi_0$  and decompose

$$\varphi_0 \approx K_1 = i_1 \times H + \varphi_1$$

with  $\varphi_1$  anisotropic. If dim  $\varphi_1 \le 1$  we stop. Otherwise we choose a generic zero field  $K_2$  of  $\varphi_1$  and decompose

$$\varphi_1 \otimes K_2 \cong i_2 \times H + \varphi_2$$

with  $\phi_2$  anisotropic and so on. Thus we obtain a tower

$$k = K_0 \subset K_1 \subset \ldots \subset K_h$$
,

a system of anisotropic forms  $\varphi_r$  over  $K_r$ , and a system of indices  $i_r$  such that  $\varphi \cong i_o \times H \perp \varphi_o$ ,  $\varphi_{r-1} \otimes K_r \cong i_r \times H \perp \varphi_r$  (1  $\leq r \leq h$ ) and dim  $\varphi_h \leq 1$ . The tower constructed in this way is called a generic splitting tower of  $\varphi_s$ .

Theorem 10.1. Let  $(K_r: 0 \le r \le h)$  be a generic splitting tower of  $\phi$  with indices  $i_r$  and kernel forms  $\phi_r$ . Let  $\gamma: k \to L \cup \infty$  be a place and let  $\lambda: K_m \to L \cup \infty$  be an extension of  $\gamma$  for some  $m \in \{0, \ldots, h\}$ , which can not be further extended to  $K_{m+1}$  in the case m < h. If  $\phi$  has good reduction with respect to  $\gamma$ , then  $\phi_m$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$ ,  $\ker(\gamma_*(\phi)) = \lambda_*(\phi_m)$  and  $\operatorname{ind}(\gamma_*(\phi)) = \lambda_*(\phi_m)$ 

= i<sub>0</sub> + · · · + i<sub>m</sub> ·

<u>Proof.</u> Since  $\varphi$  has good reduction with respect to  $\gamma$ ,  $\varphi \otimes K_{\underline{m}}$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda_{*}(\varphi \otimes K_{\underline{M}}) = \gamma_{*}(\varphi)$ .

Thus  $\phi_m$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\gamma_*(\phi) = (i_0 + \ldots + i_m) \times H$  ,  $\lambda_*(\phi_m)$ . If  $\lambda_*(\phi_m)$  were isotropic,  $\lambda$  could be extended to  $K_{m+1}$  by Theorem 9.4. Hence  $\lambda_*(\phi_m)$  is anisotropic.

In particular we obtain for a field extension L/k, i.e. a trivial place  $\gamma$ :  $k \rightarrow L$ , the following:

There is a unique  $m \in [0, h]^{(*)}$  with  $\operatorname{ind}(\phi \otimes L) = i_0 + \dots + i_m$  and  $\ker(\phi \otimes L) = \phi_m$ , namely m is the maximal number such that there exists a place  $\lambda \colon K_m \to L \cup \infty$  over k.

1) Thus the possible indices of the form  $\phi \approx L$  for varying L are precisely

In particular h and all i<sub>r</sub> are uniquely determined by  $\sigma$  (0 < r < h). We call h the <u>height</u> h( $\phi$ ) of  $\phi$  and i<sub>r</sub> the <u>r-th</u> index i<sub>r</sub>( $\phi$ ) of  $\phi$ .

2) If  $(K'_r: 0 \le r \le h)$  is another generic splitting field field of  $\varphi$ , then  $K_m \sim K'_m$  over k. For any place  $\lambda \colon K_m \to K'_m \cup \infty$  over k the form  $\varphi_m$  has good reduction with respect to  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda_*(\varphi_m) = \varphi_m'$ , where  $\varphi_m' = \ker(\varphi \circledast K'_m)$ . In this sense  $\varphi_m$  does not depend on the choice of a generic splitting tower of  $\varphi$  and we call  $\varphi_m$  the m-th kernel form of  $\varphi$ . We note that

<sup>(\*)</sup> We here denote by [0, h] the set {0, 1, ..., h}.

3) For any s with  $0 \le s \le \left[\frac{\dim \phi}{2}\right]$  there exists a minimal r with  $0 \le r \le h$  and  $i_0 + \ldots + i_r \ge s$ . The field  $K_r$  is a generic field for splitting off s hyperbolic planes from  $\phi$ .

Theorem 10.1. contains the following information about the behaviour of these invariants under specialization:

Corollary 10.2. Let  $\varphi$  be a form over k with good reduction with respect to a given place  $\lambda$ :  $k \to k' \cup \infty$ . Let  $(K_r: 0 \le r \le h)$  and  $(K'_g: 0 \le s \le h')$  be generic splitting towers of  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi' = \lambda_*(\varphi)$  respectively. For any  $s \in [0, h']$  let r(s) denote the maximal number r in [0, h] such that  $\lambda$  can be extended to a place from  $K_r$  to  $K'_g$ . Then  $h' \le h$  and  $0 \le r(0) < \dots < r(h') = h$ .

Moreover  $i_0(\varphi') = i_0(\varphi) + \dots + i_{r(0)}(\varphi)$  and  $i_g(\varphi') = i_{r(s-1)} + 1$   $(\varphi) + \dots + i_{r(s)}(\varphi)$ ,  $1 \le s \le h'$ . For any place  $\varphi: K_{r(s)} \to K'_g$  extended from  $\lambda$ ,  $\varphi_*(\ker (\varphi) \otimes K_{r(s)}) \cong \ker (\varphi' \otimes K'_g)$ .

<u>Proof.</u> Apply the above theorem to the places  $k \xrightarrow{\lambda} k' \cup \infty \longleftrightarrow K' \cup \infty$ .

Excercise. Determine the height and indices of a "generic form": Let  $U_1, \ldots, U_n$  be indeterminates over a field k. Consider the form  $\varpi = \langle U_1, \ldots, U_n \rangle$  over  $K = k(U_1, \ldots, U_n)$ . Then show that  $h(\varpi) = \left[\frac{n}{2}\right], i_0(\varpi) = 0, i_1(\varpi) = \ldots = i_h(\varpi) = 1$ .

Solution. Clearly o is anisotropic. We want to construct a tower

$$L_0 = K \subset L_1 \subset \dots \subset L_m$$
,  $m = h(\phi)$ 

with  $\operatorname{ind}(\phi \otimes L_r) = r$  for  $1 \leqslant r \leqslant m$ . Then we are done. Consider the field

$$k_r$$
: =  $k(U_n, \sqrt{-U_n U_{n-1}}, \dots, U_{n-2r+2}, \sqrt{-U_{n-2r+2} U_{n-2r+1}})$ 

in the algebraic closure  $\overline{k}$ . Choose  $L_r$  as the purely transcendental extension  $k_r(U_1, \ldots, U_{n-2r})$  of  $k_r$ . Then  $\phi \otimes L_r \sim \langle U_1, \ldots, U_{n-2r} \rangle$  and  $ind(\phi \otimes L_r) = r$  as required.

## 11. The leading form.

In this section we determine all the forms of height 1. First we recall that any Pfister form  $\tau$  has a decomposition <1>  $\tau$ '. We call  $\tau$ ' the <u>pure part</u> of  $\tau$ .

## Theorem 11.1. Let \u03c4 be anisotropic.

- (a) If dim  $\varphi$  is even then  $h(\varphi) = 1$  if and only if  $\varphi \cong a\tau$  for some Pfister form  $\tau$  of dimension at least 2 and some a in  $k^*$ .
- (b) If dim  $\varphi$  is odd then  $h(\varphi) = 1$  if and only if  $\varphi \cong a\tau'$  with  $\tau'$  the pure part of a Pfister form  $\tau$  of dimension at least 4 and some a in  $k^*$ .

#### Proof.

- (a) If  $\varphi$  represents a then  $1 \in D(a\varphi)$ . Let  $\tau = a\varphi$ . If  $h(\varphi) = 1$  then  $\tau \otimes k(\tau) \sim 0$ . By Corollary 7.3 of the norm theorem  $\tau$  is a Pfister form. The converse is clear.
- (b) Assume  $\varphi \cong a\tau'$ ,  $\tau'$  the pure part of a Pfister form  $\tau$ , dim  $\tau \geqslant 4$ . Then  $h(\varphi) = 1$ , since  $k(\tau') \sim k(\tau)$  (cf §10) and  $\tau' \otimes k(\tau) \sim <-1> \otimes k(\tau)$ .

To prove the converse we may assume  $d(\varpi) = 1$ , replacing  $\varphi$  by  $d(\varphi)\varphi$ , if necessary. Consider the form  $\pi: = <1>$   $1<-\varpi>$ .

We claim  $\tau$  is anisotropic. To prove the claim, assume that  $\tau$  is isotropic. Then  $\phi \approx <1>$  ,  $\eta$  for some  $\eta$  with

dim  $\eta \ge 2$ . Since  $h(\phi) = 1$  and  $d(\phi) = 1$ ,  $\phi \otimes k(\phi) \sim <1>$ . Hence  $\eta \otimes k(\phi) \sim 0$ . Let a  $\in D(\eta)$ . Then  $a\phi < \eta$  by Corollary 7.4. But this is impossible since dim  $\eta < \dim \phi$ .

Now to prove  $\tau$  is a Pfister form, it is sufficient to show that  $\tau \otimes k(\tau) \sim 0$ . Assume that  $\phi \otimes k(\tau)$  is anisotropic. Then  $h(\phi \otimes k(\tau)) = 1$ , since  $h(\phi \otimes k(\tau)) \leq h(\phi) = 1$ . Then  $<1> 1 (-\phi \otimes k(\tau)) = \tau \otimes k(\tau)$  is anisotropic by applying the previous argument to  $\phi \otimes k(\tau)$  instead of  $\phi$ . But this is impossible and thus  $\phi \otimes k(\tau)$  is isotropic. By hypothesis  $\phi \otimes k(\tau) \sim <1>$  and  $\tau \otimes k(\tau) \sim 0$  follows.

Definition 11.2. Let  $\varphi$  be a form over k which does not split. Let  $(K_i \mid 0 \le i \le h)$  be a generic splitting tower of  $\varphi$  with  $\varphi_i = \ker(\varphi \otimes K_i)$ . Then  $h(\varphi_{h-1}) = 1$ . By the above theorem  $\varphi_{h-1} = a\tau$  or  $\varphi_{h-1} = a\tau'$ , where  $\tau$  is a Pfister form and  $\tau'$  is the pure part of a Pfister form  $\tau$  over  $K_{h-1}$ . Of course  $\tau$  is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$  over  $K_{h-1}$ . We call  $K_{h-1}$  a leading field of  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi$  the leading form of  $\varphi$  over  $K_{h-1}$ .

Let  $\varpi$  be a form over k of dimension n. Let  $c(\varpi)$  denote the Clifford invariant of  $\varpi$ , which is defined as follows: If n is even,  $c(\varpi)$  is the class  $[C(\varpi)]$  of the Clifford algebra  $C(\varpi)$  in the Brauer group Br(k). If n is odd  $c(\varpi)$  is the class  $[C^+(\varpi)]$  of the subalgebra of elements of even degree in  $C(\varpi)$ . For a more detailed discussion of  $c(\varpi)$  see Lam [7] Chap. V §3.

The leading form has the following connection with the determinant  $d(\phi)$  and the Clifford invariant  $c(\phi)$ .

Theorem 11.3. Let  $\varpi$  be a form over k which does not split. Let  $\tau$  be the leading form of  $\varpi$  over a leading field  $K_{h-1}$  of  $\varphi$ .

- (1) If dim  $\varphi$  is even and  $d(\varphi) \neq 1$ , then  $\tau \approx <1,-d(\varphi)>$  over  $K_{h-1}$ .
- (2) If dim  $\varphi$  is even,  $d(\varphi) = 1$  and  $c(\varphi) \neq 1$ , then dim  $\tau = 4$ .

- (3) If dim  $\sigma$  is even,  $d(\varphi) = c(\varphi) = 1$ , then dim  $\tau \ge 8$ .
- (4) If dim  $\varphi$  is odd and  $c(\varphi) \neq 1$ , then dim  $\tau = 4$ .
- (5) If dim  $\varphi$  is odd and  $c(\varphi) = 1$ , then dim  $\tau > 8$ .

<u>Proof.</u> We prove (1),(2) and (3). The rest can be proved analogously.

- (1) Let  $r \in [o, h]$  be maximal such that  $d(\phi) \otimes K_r \neq <1>$ . Then  $r \leqslant h-1$ . If  $\dim \phi_r > 2$ ,  $K_r$  is algebraically closed in  $K_r(\phi_r)$ . Hence r = h-1 and  $\dim \phi_{h-1} = 2$ . Let  $d(\phi) = <d>$ . Since  $\phi_{h-1}$  has again discriminant <d>, clearly  $\tau = <1,-d>$ .
- (2) Since  $d(\varphi_{h-1}) = d(\tau) = 1$ , dim  $\tau \geqslant 4$ . Let  $r \in [0, h]$  be maximal such that  $[\mathfrak{D}] = c(\varphi) \otimes K_r \neq 1$ , where  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a central division algebra over  $K_r$ .  $\mathfrak{D}$  splits by  $K_r(\varphi_r)$ . But  $K_r(\varphi_r)$  has the form  $E(\sqrt{g})$ , where E is a purely transcendental extension of  $K_r$  and  $g \in E$ . The division algebra  $\mathfrak{D} \otimes E$  splits by  $E(\sqrt{g})$ . Thus  $\mathfrak{D} \otimes E$  has dimension 4, and  $\mathfrak{D}$  has dimension 4 over  $K_r$ . Let  $\sigma$  be the norm form of  $\mathfrak{D}$ . Then  $\sigma$  is an anisotropic Pfister form and  $\sigma \otimes K_r(\varphi_r) \sim 0$ . By Corollary 7.4.  $a\varphi_r < \sigma$  for some  $a \in D(\varphi_r)$ . In particular dim  $\varphi_r \leqslant 4$ . Since dim  $\varphi_{h-1} \geqslant 4$ , r = h-1, dim  $\varphi_{h-1} = 4$  and  $\sigma = \tau$ .
- (3) Let  $d(\varphi) = c(\varphi) = 1$  and let  $\varphi_{h-1} \cong a\tau$ . If dim  $\tau = 2$ ,  $d(\varphi_{h-1}) = d(\tau) \neq 1$ . This contradicts the assumption  $d(\varphi) = 1$ .

If dim  $\tau$  = 4,  $c(\phi_{h-1})$  = [Q] with Q the quaternion algebra over  $K_{h-1}$  corresponding to  $\tau$ . Since  $\tau$  is anisotropic the algebra Q has no zero-divisors, hence  $c(\phi_{h-1}) \neq 1$ . This contradicts the assumption that  $c(\phi) = 1$ . Thus dim  $\tau > 8$ .

### 12. The degree of a quadratic form.

Let  $\varpi$  be a form over k which is not hyperbolic. Let L run through all field extensions of k in a universal domain such that  $\varpi$  & L is not hyperbolic. Let  $\tau$  be the leading form of  $\varpi$ . Then

$$\min \left| \dim(\ker(\varphi \otimes L)) \right| \varphi \otimes L \neq 0 \right| = 1$$
 if dim  $\varphi$  is odd = dim  $\tau$  if dim  $\varphi$  is even.

This is an immediate consequence of our theory in §10 and § 11. Hence the minimum of the dimensions of the kernel forms of these  $\varphi \otimes L$  is a 2-power  $2^d$  (d = 0 if and only if dim  $\varphi$  is odd). We call d the <u>degree</u>  $\deg(\varphi)$  of  $\varphi$ . If  $\varphi \sim 0$  we put  $\deg(\varphi) = \infty$ . If dim  $\varphi$  is even then  $\deg(\varphi)$  is the number of binary factors in the leading form  $\tau$  of  $\varphi$ .

Since the degree of a form depends only on the Witt class, we have a well-defined map

deg:  $W(k) \longrightarrow N \cup \infty$ . For each n > 0 let  $J_n(k)$  denote the set of all  $[\phi]$  in W(k) with  $deg(\phi) > n$ . Clearly  $J_1(k) = \{ [\phi] \in W(k) | \text{dim } \phi \text{ is even} \}$ . Using the end of §11 we also see that

$$J_2(k) = \{ [\phi] \in J_1(k) | d(\phi) = 1 \}$$

$$J_{3}(k) = \{ [\phi] \in J_{2}(k) | c(\phi) = 1 \}$$

We want to prove that  $J_n(k)$  is an ideal of W(k) for every n > 0. For this we need the following lemma.

Lemma 12.1. Let 7 be an anisotropic n-fold Pfister form over k with  $n \ge 1$ . Let  $\overline{y}$  be a form over k with  $\deg(\overline{y}) \ge n + 1$ . Let a be an element in  $k^*$ . Then

<u>Proof.</u> If  $\Psi \sim 0$ , there is nothing to prove. Assume now that  $\Psi$  is not hyperbolic and let  $(L_1 \mid 0 \leq i \leq 1)$  be a generic splitting tower of  $\Psi$ . Then we claim that  $\tau \otimes L_1$  is still anisotropic. To prove the claim, assume that  $\tau \otimes L_1 \sim 0$ . Let  $r \in [0, 1-1]$  be maximal with  $\tau \otimes L_r \neq 0$  and hence a $\Psi_r < \tau \otimes L_r$  by Corollary 7.4. But this contradicts the assumption that  $\deg(\Psi) > n$ . Thus  $\tau \otimes L_1$  is indeed anisotropic.

Now let  $\varphi$ : = at 1  $\Psi$ . Then  $\varphi \otimes L_1 \sim a\tau \otimes L_1$ , since  $\Psi \otimes L_1 \sim 0$ . Hence  $\deg(\varphi) = m \leq n$ .

Assume m < n and let  $(K_j \mid 0 \le j \le h)$  be a generic splitting tower of  $\phi$ . Let  $\rho$  be the leading form of  $\phi$ , hence  $\ker(\phi \otimes K_{h-1}) = b\rho$  with  $\deg(\rho) = m$ ,  $b \in K_{h-1}^*$ . Then

$$\Psi \otimes K_{h-1} \sim b_{\rho} \cdot (-a)(\tau \otimes K_{h-1})$$
.

But the right hand side has dimension  $2^m + 2^n < 2^{n+1}$ . Thus  $\Psi \approx K_{h-1} \sim 0$  and we obtain by  $\sim a(\tau \otimes K_{h-1})$ .

Since dim  $\rho < \dim \tau$ , we have  $\tau \otimes K_{h-1} \sim 0$  and hence also  $\rho \sim 0$ , which is a contradiction. This proves that  $\deg(\sigma) = n$ .

Theorem 12.2.  $J_n(k)$  is an ideal of W(k) for every  $n \ge 0$ .

<u>Proof.</u> We shall first prove that all  $J_n(k)$  are closed under addition, i.e.

 $deg(\varphi_1 \quad \varphi_2) \ge min(deg(\varphi_1), deg(\varphi_2))$  for any  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  over k. We exclude the following trivial cases:

 $w_1$  or  $w_2$  has odd dimension,  $w_1 \sim 0$  or  $w_2 \sim 0$ ,  $w_1 \perp w_2 \sim 0$ .

Let n > 1 be the degree of  $\phi_1 \perp \phi_2$ . We choose a field extension L of k such that  $\ker(\phi_1 \otimes L \perp \phi_2 \otimes L) = a\rho$  with  $\rho$  a Pfister form of degree n and  $a \in L^*$ .

Then

$$deg(\phi_i \otimes L) > deg(\phi_i)$$
 (i = 1,2)

by definition of the degree function. Thus it suffices to prove the assertion for the forms  $\widetilde{\phi_i} = \phi_i \otimes L$  instead of  $\phi_i$ . If  $\deg(\widetilde{\phi_2}) > n$  then we obtain  $\deg(\widetilde{\phi_1}) = n$  from the fact that  $\widetilde{\phi_1} \sim a\rho + (-\widetilde{\phi_2})$  using Lemma 12.1. Thus in any case  $\min(\deg(\widetilde{\phi_1}), \deg(\widetilde{\phi_2})) \leq n$ .

Since  $deg(a\phi) = deg(\phi)$ ,  $\langle a \rangle J_n(k) = J_n(k)$ . Now W(k) is is additively generated by 1-dimensional forms  $\langle a \rangle$ . Thus  $J_n(k)$  is stable under the multiplication by elements of W(k). This shows that  $J_n(k)$  is an ideal in W(k).

As an immediate consequence of the theorem we have the following corollary:

Corollary 12.3.  $deg(\varphi_1 \ \varphi_2) = min(deg(\varphi_1), deg(\varphi_2))$  if  $deg \ \varphi_1 \neq deg \ \varphi_2$ .

Let I(k) be the fundamental ideal of W(k), consisting of the Witt classes  $[\phi]$  over k with dim  $\phi$  even. I(k) is additively generated by 1-fold Pfister forms. Thus the n-th power  $I^n(k)$  of I(k) is additively generated by n-fold Pfister forms and hence the theorem yields another corollary:

Corollary 12.4.  $I^n(k) \subset J_n(k)$  for all n. In [2] Arason and Pfister obtained the following:

<u>Hauptsatz.</u> If  $\varphi$  is an anisotropic form  $\neq 0$  over k with  $[\varphi] \in I^n(k)$  then dim  $\varphi > 2^n$ .

Notice that our Corollary 12.4. is just another way to state this Hauptsatz. It is clear from the definition of the ideals  $J_n(k)$  that  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} J_n(k) = 0$ . Thus also  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} I^n(k) = 0$ , a highly nontrivial fact, since W(k) is usually not noetherian.

Question. Is  $I^{n}(k) = J_{n}(k)$  for every n?

It is evident that this holds true for  $n \le 1$ , and it

is not difficult to prove  $I^n(k) = J_n(k)$  for n = 2 (Pfister [9]). Until now no counter example has been found, but nevertheless there is not much evidence for an affirmative answer in general. We mention some of the known results.

- (1) If  $\varphi \in J_3$  with dim  $\varphi \le 12$  then  $\varphi \in I^3$  (Pfister [9]).
- (2) Let F be a function field over a real closed field R. If tr(F/R) < 3,  $J_n(F) = I^n(F)$  for all n. If  $tr(F/R) = d \ge 4$ ,  $J_n(F) = I^n(F)$  for all  $n \ge d + 1$
- (3)  $J_n(k) = I^n(k)$  for all n if k is a global or local field in the sense of algebraic number theory.
- (4) If  $J_3(k) = I^3(k)$  then  $J_3(k(X_1, ..., X_n)) = I^3(k(X_1, ..., X_n))$  for any set  $X_1, ..., X_n$  of indeterminates.

The statements (2), (3), (4) are proved in Arason - Knebusch [1], a paper which moreover contains a detailed study of the behaviour of the degree function, nevertheless leaving many questions open.

Theorem 12.5. For arbitrary m > 0 and n > 0, and for any field k,

$$I^{m}(k) J_{n}(k) \subset J_{m+n}(k).$$

<u>Proof.</u> It suffices to prove this for m = 1. For a form  $\phi$  over k which is not hyperbolic, we have to show that

(\*) 
$$deg(<1,-a> \otimes \phi) > deg \phi$$
,  $a \in K^*$ .

If  $\varphi$  has odd dimension then this is trivial. Now we assume that dim  $\varphi$  is even and we proceed by induction on  $h(\varphi)$ . If  $h(\varphi) = 1$  the assertion (\*) is clear. Assume  $h(\varphi) > 1$ . Without loss of generality further assume that  $\alpha : = \langle 1, -a \rangle \otimes \varphi$  does not split. Let F be a leading field of  $\alpha$  and  $\rho$  be the leading form of  $\alpha$  over F. Since  $\deg(\varphi \otimes F) \ge \deg(\varphi)$ , it suffices to prove that  $\deg(\rho) > \deg(\varphi \otimes F)$ . Since  $h(\varphi \otimes F) \le h(\varphi)$ , we may replace k by F and  $\varphi$  by the form  $\varphi \otimes F$ . Thus we may assume

Assume first that  $\rho \otimes k(\varphi)$  is anisotropic. Since (<1,-a>  $\otimes \varphi$ )  $\otimes k(\varphi) \sim \rho \otimes k(\varphi)$  and  $h(\varphi \otimes k(\varphi)) \leq k(\varphi) = k(\varphi)$  and  $k(\varphi) = k(\varphi)$  and deg( $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi)$ ). But deg( $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi)$ ) and deg( $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi)$ ).

Now assume that  $\rho \otimes k(\phi)$  splits. Then  $\rho \cong b\phi$  in over k by Corollary 7.4. It follows then  $2^{\deg(\phi)} < \dim \phi \le 2^{\deg(\rho)}$  and hence  $\deg \phi < \deg \rho$ .

One may ask: Is  $J_m(k)$   $J_n(k) \subset J_{m+n}(k)$ ?

Corollary 12.6. Let  $\varphi$  be an odd dimensional form and  $\Psi$  be an arbitrary form over k. Then  $\deg(\varphi \otimes \Psi) = \deg(\Psi)$ .

Proof. Since  $\phi \sim <1> \pm (\phi \pm <-1>)$ , we have

$$\omega \otimes \Psi \sim \Psi_{\perp}(\omega_{\perp} < -1>) \otimes \Psi$$
.

By the theorem  $deg((\phi + <-1>) \otimes \Psi) > deg \Psi$  and the conclusion follows from Corollary 12.3.

It can be shown by elementary methods, i.e. methods not involving transcendental field extensions over k, that any form  $\varphi$  of odd dimension over k yields a non zero divisor  $[\varphi]$  of W(k), cf. Pfister [9] or Lam [7]. Corollary 12.6. is a deepening of this fact.

# 13. Subforms of Pfister forms.

Definition 13.1. A form  $\varphi$  over k is called a <u>Pfister</u> neighbour if there exists a Pfister form  $\rho$  such that  $\varphi < a\rho$  with dim  $\varphi > \frac{1}{2}$  dim  $\rho$  for some  $a \in k^{\alpha}$ . Let  $\varphi$  be a Pfister neighbour,  $\varphi : \eta \cong a\rho$  as above. Then  $k(\varphi) \sim k(\rho)$  over k as has been observed at the end of § 9. We claim that  $\rho$  is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$ . Let  $\sigma$  be another Pfister form with  $\varphi < b\sigma$  and dim  $\varphi > \frac{1}{2}$  dim  $\sigma$ . Then  $\sigma \otimes k(\rho) \sim 0$  and  $\rho \otimes k(\sigma) \sim 0$  i.e.  $\rho < \sigma$  and  $\sigma < \rho$ . (Notice that  $\rho$  and  $\sigma$  both represent 1.) Hence  $\sigma \cong \rho$ . If b is any element of  $D(\varphi)$  then a = bc with  $c \in D(\rho)$ . Thus  $b\rho \cong a\rho$ . We see that the form ap and hence also  $\eta$  is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$ .  $\eta$  is called the complementary form of  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi$  is called a neighbour of  $\rho$ .

Without proof we quote the following rather astonishing theorem due to Robert Fitzgerald [3].

Theorem 13.2. Let  $\varphi$  and  $\eta$  be anisotropic over k with  $\varphi \neq -\eta$  and dim  $\eta < 2$  dim  $\varphi$ . We further assume  $\varphi \otimes k(\varphi) \sim (-\eta) \otimes k(\varphi)$ . Then  $\varphi_1 \eta \cong a\sigma$  with  $\sigma$  an anisotropic Pfister form and  $a \in k^*$ .

Remark 13.3. Actually Fitzgerald has an even stronger theorem, replacing the assumption dim  $\eta < 2$  dim  $\phi$  by dim  $\eta < \dim \phi + 2^{\deg q}$  with  $q:=\phi_1\eta$ . That this theorem is indeed stronger than Theorem 13.2. can be seen as follows: We have  $q \otimes k(\phi) \sim 0$ . Let F be a leading field of q with the leading form  $\tau$ . Then  $q \otimes F \sim a\tau$  with  $a \in F^*$ . The field  $F(\phi \otimes F)$  is a composite  $k(\phi) \cdot F$  and thus contains  $k(\phi)$ . Therefore

 $0 \sim q \otimes F(\phi \otimes F) \sim a\tau \otimes F(\phi \otimes F)$ .

This implies  $b(\phi \otimes F) < \tau$  for some  $b \in F^*$ , and we see that dim  $\phi \leq 2^{\deg q}$ .

Corollary 13.4. Let q be an anisotropic form with  $1 \in D(q)$ .

Let  $\varpi$  be a form over k with dim  $\varpi > \frac{1}{3}$  dim q and assume that  $\varpi(t) \in G(q \otimes k(t))$ , with a set of n = dim  $\varpi$  indeterminates  $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ . Then q is a Pfister form.

<u>Proof.</u> By the norm theorem  $q \circledast k(\phi) \sim 0$ . Choose  $a \in D(\phi)$ . Then  $q \cong a\phi \perp a\phi$  by Corollary 7.4. Let

$$\rho$$
: = aq  $\simeq \varphi \perp \eta$ .

Then  $\phi \neq -\eta$ , since q is anisotropic. Since  $\phi \otimes k(\phi) \sim -\eta \otimes k(\phi)$ ,  $\rho$  is a Pfister form by the theorem. Since  $1 \in D(q) = a D(\rho)$  it follows that  $\rho \approx q$ .

Example. The restriction dim  $\phi > \frac{1}{3}$  dim q is the best possible.

Consider q: = <1, a, b>  $\otimes$  T with an anisotropic Pfister form  $\tau$ . Further assume that q is anisotropic. Then dim  $\tau = \frac{1}{3} \dim q$  and  $\tau(t) \in G(q \otimes k(t))$ . But q is not a Pfister form.

<u>Definition 13.4.</u> An anisotropic form  $\varphi$  over k is called <u>excellent</u> if for every field extension L/k there exists a form  $\Psi$  over k such that  $\Psi \otimes L \cong \ker(\varphi \otimes L)$ .

# Theorem 13.5. The following are equivalent:

- (i)  $\phi$  is excellent
- (ii) There exists a sequence of anisotropic forms φ = η<sub>0</sub>, η<sub>1</sub> ...., η<sub>t</sub> (t > 0) over k such that dim η<sub>t</sub> ≤ 1 and η<sub>i</sub>(0 ≤ i < t) is a Pfister neighbour with complementary form η<sub>i=1</sub>.

Moreover then the following holds true:

- (a)  $h(\varphi) = t$
- (b) If  $\eta_{i-1} \eta_{i+1} \cong a_i \sigma_i$ , with  $\sigma_i$  a Pfister form then  $(K_i : 0 \le i \le t)$ , with  $K_0 = k$ ,  $K_i = k(\sigma_0, ..., \sigma_{i-1})$   $(1 \le i \le t)$ , is a generic splitting tower of  $\sigma$  and  $\ker(\varphi \oplus K_i) \cong (-1)^i \eta_i \oplus K_i$ .

<u>Proof.</u> First we show that (a) and (b) hold assuming (ii). We proceed by induction on t. If  $t \le 1$  the assertion is trivial. Assume t > 1.

Since  $k(\sigma_0) \approx k(\varpi)$ ,  $k(\sigma_0)$  is a generic zero field of  $\varphi$ . If  $\eta_1 \approx k(\varphi)$  were isotropic,  $\varphi \approx k(\varphi) \sim (-\eta_1) \approx k(\varphi) \sim \eta_2 \approx k(\varphi)$ . We would obtain from Theorem 13.2. that  $\varphi$  is a Pfister neighbour and both  $\eta_1$  and  $\eta_2$  are complementary forms of  $\varphi$ . This is impossible, since the complementary form is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$ . The sequence

$$\eta_1 \otimes K_1, \ \eta_2 \otimes K_2, \ \cdots \ \eta_t \otimes K_1 \quad \text{with } K_1 = k(\sigma_0)$$

is as in (ii) and has length t-1. Applying the induction hypothesis to  $\eta_1 \otimes K_1$  we obtain  $h(\phi) = t$ , a generic splitting tower  $(K_i : 0 \le i \le t)$  of  $\phi$  with  $K_i = k(\sigma_0, \ldots, \sigma_{i-1})$  and  $ker(\phi \otimes K_i) \cong (-1)^i \eta_i \otimes K_i$ . It is now clear that  $\phi$  is excellent.

The proof of the implication (i) = (ii) is not hard with Fitzgerald's theorem 13.2. Actually much weaker results(essentially also necessary to prove Fitzgerald's theorem) suffice to establish this implication, cf. Knebusch [5], part II §7.

One of the difficulties of the algebraic theory of quadratic forms over fields is that the dimensions of the "building stones" of this theory, the Pfister forms, are 2-powers and that the difference between consecutive 2-powers grows exponentially. Excellent forms exist in any dimension if k is formally real.

(Example: e = n x <1>, n ∈N. Exercise: Prove that these e are indeed excellent.) They are closely related to Pfister forms and have a well understood splitting behaviour.\*

The remarks on excellent forms concluding this lecture had been omitted in the oral version in September 1979 for lack of time.

#### References

- [ 1] J.K. Arason, M. Knebusch: Über die Grade quadratischen Formen, Math. Ann. 234 (1978), 167 192.
- [2] J.K. Arason, A. Pfister: Beweis des Krullschen Durchschnittssatzes für den Wittring, Invent. Math. 12 (1971), 173 176.
- [3] R. Fitzgerald: Thesis, University of California at Los Angeles, in preparation.
- [4] M. Knebusch: Specialization of quadratic and symmetric bilinear forms, and a norm theorem, Acta Arith. 24 (1973) 279 299.
- [5] M. Knebusch: Generic splitting of quadratic forms, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) (1976) 65-93; 34 (1977), 1 31.
- [6] M. Knebusch: Isometrien über semilokalen Ringen, Math. Z. 108 (1969), 255 - 268.
- [7] T.Y. Lam: The algebraic theory of quadratic forms, W.A. Benjamin, Inc. 1973.
- [8] T.Y. Lam: Ten lectures on quadratic forms over fields, Proc. of quadratic form conference (G. Orzech ed.), Queen's paper in Pure and Applied Math. Vol. 46, Ontario; Kingston, 1976.
- [ 9] A. Pfister: Quadratische Formen in beliebigen Körpern, Invent. Math. 1(1966), 116 132.
- [10] A. Roy: Cancellation of quadratic forms over commutative rings, J. Algebra 10 (1968), 286 298.